Case No. 2006-CA-01276

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

JOHN W. DAVIS and NATIONWIDE MANAGEMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP,

APPELLANTS

v.

PATRICK R. BOSSETTA,

APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Chancery Court of Pike County, Mississippi Honorable Debbra K. Halford, Chancellor

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

PAUL N. DAVIS (MSB # BUTLER, SNOW, O'MARA, STEVENS & CANNADA, PLLC **AMSOUTH PLAZA, 17TH FLOOR** 210 EAST CAPITOL STREET **JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39201** TELEPHONE: (601) 948-5711

FAX:

(601) 985-4500

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANTS

Case No. 2006-CA-01276

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

JOHN W. DAVIS and NATIONWIDE MANAGEMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP,

APPELLANTS

v.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Whether the chancery court erred in concluding that the road easement and utility easement granted to Bossetta's predecessor-in-interest was not extinguished by the foreclosure of a superior deed of trust.¹
- 2. Whether Cox v. Trustmark National Bank, 733 So. 2d 353 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) should be overruled to the extent it holds that the release of a landlocked tract from a deed of trust impliedly subordinates the deed of trust to an implied easement by necessity over the remainder of the mortgaged property.
- 3. Whether the chancery court erred in concluding that Bossetta is entitled to an implied easement by necessity for access.
- 4. Whether the chancery court erred in concluding that Bossetta is entitled to an implied easement by necessity for utilities.
- 5. Whether the chancery court erred in failing to find that any easement for utilities was abandoned.
- 6. If Bossetta is entitled to either or both easements, then whether the chancery court erred in relocating the easement(s) to impose new burdens on the Nationwide Land.
 - 7. Whether the chancery court erred in citing Davis and Nationwide for contempt.
- 8. Whether the chancery court erred in requiring Davis and Nationwide to pay a portion of Bossetta's attorney fees.
- 9. Whether this action must be remanded to the chancery court with instructions to further consider Nationwide's counterclaims.
- 10. Alternatively, whether the chancery court erred in failing to enjoin Bossetta from entering any portion of the Nationwide Land other than the court-authorized easement area.

¹ An issue embedded within issues 1, 2, 3, 7, 8 and 9 is whether the chancery court erred in entering its preliminary injunction.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature Of The Case

This appeal challenges the existence of both a road easement and a utility easement. Patrick R. Bossetta ("Bossetta") commenced this action against John W. Davis ("Davis") and Nationwide Management Limited Partnership² ("Nationwide") on May 11, 2005, seeking injunctive relief and damages for alleged interference with an alleged deeded road easement and for refusal to permit the construction of utility lines across rural forested land adjoining the Tangipahoa River in Pike County, Mississippi. (R. 6-14.)³ Bossetta later amended his complaint to add an alternative claim of entitlement to an implied easement by necessity.⁴ (R. 92-101.)

Nationwide counterclaimed against Bossetta to remove the cloud from its title arising out of Bossetta's claimed easement, for injunctive relief, and for damages due to Bossetta's trespass and wrongful cutting of timber. (R. 137-143.)

² Davis is the managing partner of Nationwide.

³ For the purposes of this Brief, citations to the Chancery Clerk's Record will be in the following format: "(R. ____,)." Citations to the trial transcript will be in the following format: "(Tr. ___,)." Citations to trial exhibits admitted into evidence will be in the following format: "(Ex. ____,)" or "Exhibit __." Citations to the tabs in Appellants' Record Excerpts will be in the following format: "(R.E. ____,)."

⁴ To assist this Court in visualizing the relative positions of the three tracts identified and discussed below, the Nationwide Land, the Madison Land and the Bossetta 65-acre tract, it is noted that the Nationwide Land is depicted on the map introduced as Exhibit 62 and the Madison Land is depicted on Exhibit 63. (R.E. 5 & 6.) Although the original exhibits do not show the tracts highlighted by colors, note that to assist this Court we show the Nationwide tract cross-hatched in green on Exhibit 62 and the Madison Land cross-hatched in red on Exhibit 63 in the Record Excerpts. (Id.) While the Madison Land and Bossetta 65-acre tract are not formally depicted on Exhibit 62, we have cross-hatched in red on this exhibit in the Record Excerpts the general area of the Madison Land and cross-hatched in blue the general area of the Bossetta 65-acre tract. (Id.) Finally, the line depicting the Madison Easement is colored yellow in the Record Excerpt. (R.E. 5.) It is important to note that Bossetta stipulated that Exhibit 62 was offered into evidence solely for the purpose of depicting these tracts and not for the purpose of establishing any subdivision easements which may be otherwise indicated thereon. (Tr. 221.) To the extent Bossetta may now argue the map is evidence of an easement, then Nationwide urges that the map was erroneously admitted into evidence over Nationwide's objection since the map was not authenticated and there is no evidence that any dedication was ever made. (Id.) Moreover, there is no evidence that the mortgagee of the Stickney Deed of Trust, discussed below, ever approved any dedication.

B. Course Of The Proceedings

On May 26, 2005, at the conclusion of a hearing on Bossetta's request for a preliminary injunction, the chancery court announced from the bench that the request would be granted. (Tr. 51; R.E. 7.) The chancery court directed that Davis and Nationwide "remove the berms and reestablish the path as it existed prior to its December '04- January '05 condition to allow plaintiff access along that road." (*Id.*) On June 17, 2005, a formal Preliminary Injunction order was entered. (R. 51-57; R.E. 2.)

Some four months later, on September 30, 2005, Bossetta filed a motion for citation for contempt in which he represented to the chancery court that Davis and Nationwide refused to comply with the preliminary injunction. (R. 116-117.) This motion was continued to the trial on the merits. (R. 361; R.E. 3.)

Trial of this action began on April 26, 2006, and concluded on April 28, 2006. A final judgment was entered on July 6, 2006 in which the chancery court cited Davis and Nationwide for contempt, held that Bossetta was entitled to both the road easement and utility easement based upon a grant as well as by implication, held that Bossetta was entitled to have the court relocate the easements which the court did, awarded Bossetta recovery of one-half his attorney fees, permanently enjoined Davis and Nationwide from interfering with the easements, and dismissed all of Nationwide's counterclaims. (R. 361-368; R.E. 3; Tr. 443-462; R.E. 4.) Davis and Nationwide gave timely notice of appeal filed August 1, 2006. (R. 370.)

C. Statement Of Facts

1. <u>Madison Easements Created After The Stickney Deed Of Trust Was</u> Recorded

By Warranty Deed (the "Stickney Deed") dated August 3, 1983, Jane Kramer Stickney, et al ("Stickney, et al") conveyed to Dale W. Hornsby and E. Lynn Singleton ("Hornsby and Singleton") 138.2 acres of land, more or less, in Pike County, Mississippi (the "138.2-acre tract").

(Ex. 1.) The Stickney Deed recited a list of "subject to" matters, including "Any existing right-of-ways for utility purposes and/or road purposes now existing across said lands." (*Id.*) However, it is undisputed that there is no evidence in the record that any easements across the 138.2-acre tract actually existed at that time.

On the same date, Hornsby and Singleton executed a Deed of Trust (the "Stickney Deed of Trust") conveying the 138.2-acre tract to Thomas H. Walman, as Trustee for the benefit of Stickney, et al, as security for a purchase money promissory note given by Hornsby and Singleton to Stickney, et al in consideration for the Stickney Deed. (Ex. 9; Tr. 11.) The Stickney Deed of Trust was recorded on August 17, 1983, in the deed of trust records of Pike County, Mississippi. (*Id.*) The Stickney Deed of Trust recited the same list of "subject to" matters, including "Any existing right-of-ways for utility and/or road purposes now existing across said lands." (*Id.*) However, again it is undisputed that there is no evidence in the record that any easements actually existed at that time.

More than two years after the Stickney Deed of Trust was recorded, Hornsby and Singleton executed a Warranty Deed (the "Madison Deed") dated October 10, 1985, conveying to John T. Madison et ux a certain 1.11-acre tract (the "Madison Land") carved out of the 138.2-acre tract. (Ex. 2; Tr. 11.) The Madison Deed also granted the following road easement and utility easement (the "Madison Easements") across the 138.2-acre tract to the Madison Land:

B. A road and utility easement beginning at the intersection of Old Highway 51 and the Entrance Road to Chatawa Bluffs South, said point being South 988 feet and East 1553 feet from the Northwest corner of Section 13, T1N, R7E, Pike County, Mississippi; thence Southwesterly with the Entrance Road approximately 2175 feet to the intersection with a road running Southerly; thence turning Southerly with the Entrance Road, go approximately 1485 feet to the North line of Tiger Enterprises, Inc., property also known as Chatawa Bluffs South, also being the beginning point of a road known as Stone Ridge Road; thence with Stone Ridge Road go Southerly approximately 2200 feet to the intersection with Delta Road; thence continuing Southeasterly and Southerly with Stone Ridge Road go

approximately 2700 feet to the end of this easement near the North line of the above described 1.11 acre tract.⁵

The Madison Deed is the sole deed in Bossetta's chain of title at issue in this action which purports to actually *grant* an easement to the Madison Land. (Tr. 253-254 & 259.)

2. Stickney Deed Of Trust Was Not Subordinated To Madison Easements

Stickney, et al and their successors released the Stickney Deed of Trust insofar only as it covered the Madison Land. (Exs. 37 & 38; Tr. 31.) The Partial Cancellations did not make any reference at all to a release or subordination of the Stickney Deed of Trust for the Madison Easements across the 138.2-acre tract. (*Id.*) Bossetta admits that he has no evidence that either Stickney, et al or their successors ever executed any instrument purporting to subordinate the Stickney Deed of Trust to the Madison Easements. (Tr. 254-255.)

3. Foreclosure Of Stickney Deed Of Trust And Subsequent Chain Of Title

By Substituted Trustee's Deed (the "Trustee's Deed") dated October 14, 1987, the Stickney Deed of Trust was foreclosed and Keith Starrett, Substituted Trustee, conveyed to First Bank the 138.2-acre tract less and except the Madison Land and less and except a number of other small tracts not at issue in this action (the land described in this Trustee's Deed is hereafter referred to as the "Nationwide Land" because it is undisputed that this land is now owned by Defendant Nationwide as shown below). (Ex. 11; Tr. 15.) Not surprisingly, the Trustee's Deed recited the same list of "subject to" matters as set forth in the Stickney Deed of Trust, including "Any existing right of way for utility and/or road purposes now existing across said lands." (Ex. 11.) However, the Trustee's Deed did not make any reference at all to the Madison Easements which were

⁵ Although the Madison Deed suggests the existence of a formal subdivision known as "Chatawa Bluffs South" with "existing" roads and utilities, in fact no such subdivision has ever existed and no such utilities have ever existed. (Tr. 9-10, 42, 133-134, 292 & 323.) Moreover, the only actual "road" is a one lane vehicular path over a mile and one-half in length with only the first several hundred feet paved. (Tr. 134 & 194; Exs. 23-26; R.E. 8; Ex. 2; Ex. 55.) Much of the old "road" was simply a two tire-track path (with grass between the tracks) with tall trees near both sides. (Tr. 194; Exs. 23 & 26; R.E. 8.)

purportedly created by Hornsby and Singleton more than two years after the execution of the Stickney Deed of Trust.⁶ (Id.)

By Special Warranty Deed dated March 29, 1993, First Bank conveyed to Michael Corbin and wife, Linda S. Corbin (the "Corbins") the Nationwide Land. (Ex. 12; Tr. 16.) This deed did not make any reference to the Madison Easements. (Ex. 12.) The Corbins immediately took possession of this land through their tenant, John W. Davis, under a lease agreement. (Tr. 315-316.) At the same time, the Corbins also entered into an agreement to sell this same land to Davis. (*Id.*)

By Warranty Deed dated March 2, 1998, the Corbins actually conveyed to John W. Davis and wife Sandra K. Davis the Nationwide Land. (Ex. 13.) This deed did not make any reference to the Madison Easements. (*Id.*) By mesne conveyances, title to the Nationwide land was transferred to Nationwide, a limited partnership of which Davis is the managing partner. (Exs. 13A & 14.) These deeds likewise did not make any reference to the Madison Easements. (*Id.*)

4. Chain Of Title For The Madison Land

In connection with their purchase of the Madison Land on October 10, 1985, John T. Madison and wife executed a Deed of Trust (the "Madison Deed of Trust") in favor of Robert G. Barnett, as Trustee for the benefit of Deposit Guaranty National Bank conveying the Madison Land to secure payment of a promissory note. (Ex. 3.) This Deed of Trust did not make any reference to the Madison Easements. (*Id.*)

On July 29, 1988, almost a year after the foreclosure of the Stickney Deed of Trust and the downfall of the planned subdivision, the Madison Deed of Trust was also foreclosed and the

⁶ Bossetta does not claim that there were any irregularities in the foreclosure of the Stickney Deed of Trust. (Tr. 258-259.) Bossetta also has no evidence that the Madisons or their own mortgagee attempted to exercise their right of redemption under Miss. Code Ann. § 89-1-59 to avoid the foreclosure. (Tr. 259.)

Madison Land was conveyed to Deposit Guaranty National Bank. (Ex. 4.) This deed did not purport to convey the Madison Easements. (*Id.*)

By Quitclaim Deed dated October 31, 1988, John T. Madison and wife quitclaimed to Deposit Guaranty National Bank any right, title and interest they may have still had in the Madison Land and the Madison Easements. (Ex. 5.)

By Special Warranty Deed dated September 29, 1989, Deposit Guaranty National Bank conveyed to Charles J. Hughes and wife the Madison Land and purported to also convey the Madison Easements. (Ex. 6.) The purchase price paid by the Hughes for the 1.11-acre Madison Land was \$3,500.00.⁷ (Tr. 194-195.)

By Warranty Deed dated November 30, 2002, Charles J. Hughes and wife conveyed to St. Mary's Farms of Louisiana, Inc., a company owned and controlled by Bossetta, the Madison Land as part of a larger tract. (Ex. 7.) This Deed also purported to convey the Madison Easement. The purchase price for this land was \$2000.00 per acre. (Tr. 43 & 45.) Thus, the purchase price for the 1.11-acre Madison Land at this time was only \$2,220.00, little more than one-half the amount paid by the Hughes thirteen years earlier. By Warranty Deed dated November 5, 2003, St. Mary's Farms of Louisiana, Inc. conveyed the land to Patrick R. Bossetta individually. (Ex. 8.)

5. Use Of The Madison Easement For Road Purposes

It should be noted that while the description of the Madison Easements refers to a purported existing "road," it is undisputed that the only actual "road" is a one lane vehicular path over a mile and one-half in length with only the first several hundred feet paved. (Tr. 134 & 194; Exs. 23-26; R.E. 8; Ex. 2; Ex. 55.) Much of the old "road" was simply a two tire-track

⁷ The Hughes later purchased some additional land adjacent to the Madison Land referred to as the "7.86-acre tract" and then conveyed a portion of this land to his brother, Robert Hughes. Bossetta does not claim that any easement has been granted to access this land. (Tr. 195 & 255-256.) Therefore, this additional tract is not material to the issues raised in this appeal.

pathway (with grass between the tracks) with tall trees near both sides. (Tr. 193-194; Exs. 23 & 26; R.E. 8.)

Upon the Corbin's closing of their purchase of the Nationwide Land in 1993, Davis immediately went into possession of the Nationwide Land under lease from the Corbins and under a contract to purchase the land from the Corbins. (Tr. 315-316.) At that time, there were existing fences bounding the land and there was only one entry point for vehicular access to the land. (Tr. 125-126 & 330-331.) This access point was from Kramer Lodge Road at the North boundary of the Nationwide Land. (Tr. 125-127; see also, Ex. 62, R.E. 5.) This same access point coincides with the beginning point of the route across the Nationwide Land to the Madison Land as described in the Madison Easements. (Tr. 125-127; Exs. 2 & 55.)

Immediately upon going into possession in 1993, Davis erected a gate at this only access point on the North boundary of the Nationwide Land in the Spring of 1993. (Tr. 317-320.) The gate has been maintained at all times from 1993 to the present date, although Davis did replace the gate in 1996. (*Id.*) Locks have been maintained on this gate and the gates have been kept closed at all times, except while actually entering, from 1993 to the present date.⁸ (Tr. 320-322.) Prior to 1996, Davis installed a second gate in the interior of the Nationwide Land and has maintained locks on the gate at all times to the present date. (Tr. 319.)

Admittedly, Charles Hughes, Robert Hughes and their wives, being Bossetta's predecessors, used the one lane path of the Madison Easements to access their property for a number of years. They claim to have used the one lane path as a matter of right, a position

⁸ The Hughes testified that from time to time they would have to cut the chain to add a new lock, but they admitted that they always complied with the requirement that the gates remain closed and locked. (Tr. 134-135, 171, 181 & 201.) Indeed, the Hughes' video shows them closing and locking the gates. (Ex. 55.)

disputed by Davis. (Tr. 150, 180 & 329.) However, regardless whose position was correct, all of the Hughes admit that they installed their own locks and submitted to the practice of keeping the gates closed and locked at all times since 1993. (Tr. 134-135, 171, 181, 201 & 329.) This practice of maintaining closed and locked gates has continued for a period of more than ten years. (Id.) Davis testified that he had no objection to the Hughes using the one-lane path on this basis. (Tr. 329.)

6. Bossetta's Attempt To Alter Access To The Madison Land In Late 2003

In 1995, Patrick R. Bossetta purchased a 65-acre tract of land (the "Bossetta 65-acre tract") adjoining the northeast and east side of the southerly portion of the Nationwide Land near the vicinity of the Madison Land. (Tr. 245; Exs. 62 & 63; R.E. 5 & 6.) In fact, the southern boundary of the western portion of the 65-acre tract is situated about a quarter mile north of the northern boundary of the Madison Land, with the Nationwide Land situated between the Bossetta 65-acre tract and the Madison Land. (R. 368; R.E. 3.) This Bossetta 65-acre tract has frontage on Old Highway 51. (Tr. 246.) Bossetta admits there was no common source of title to the Bossetta 65-acre tract and the Nationwide Land. (Tr. 248.)

Nationwide has an old fence separating the Bossetta 65-acre tract from the Nationwide Land. (Tr. 186-188 & 260.) The location of the one-lane path described in the Madison Easements runs parallel to the fence, but, as plainly shown in photographs, Nationwide has numerous grown trees between the path and the fence. (Exs. 23 & 26.) Bossetta's own estimate is that the many pine trees forming a long row between the one-lane path and the fence are 15 to 17 years old. (Tr. 288.) In the past, Davis has harvested trees larger than 24 inch diameter from the area between the road and the fence. (Tr. 357.)

⁹ This difference in positions is not material to this appeal since Bossetta does not claim any prescriptive right to an easement. (R. 92-101.)

Bossetta admits that in late 2003, after having purchased the Madison Land, he cut Nationwide's fence and cut and destroyed trees on the Nationwide Land between the fence and the one-lane path and installed a green gate so that he could access the one-lane path to the Madison Land directly from his 65-acre tract. (Tr. 26-28 & 283-285; Ex. 27.) He says he did this in order to avoid having to go through the locked gates on the existing path and to avoid having to go a longer distance to access the one-lane path at the original beginning of the Madison Easement. (Tr. 291.) Bossetta admits that he did not obtain Nationwide's permission to cut the fence and trees on its land and install a gate. (Tr. 267, 291 & 327.) Instead, he claims the Madison Easements somehow gave him a legal right to cut the fence and trees simply because his 65-acre tract adjoins the Nationwide Land and the one-lane path is near the boundary. (Tr. 290.)

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