THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOHN W. DAVIS AND NATIONWIDE MANAGEMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

APPELLANTS

VS

en grande de la companya del companya de la companya del companya de la companya

CASE # 2006-CA-01276

PATRICK R. BOSSETTA

APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

Appeal from the Chancery Court of Pike County, Mississippi

APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Oral Argument-Not Requested

W. STEWART ROBISON
JOSE' B. SIMO
ROBISON & HOLMES, PLLC
Attorneys and Counselors at Law
Post Office Drawer 1128
McComb, Mississippi 39648
WSR Mississippi State Bar No.
JBS Mississippi State Bar No.
Telephone: (601) 249-3112

FAX: (601) 684-0566

Email: info@robison-holmes.com

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

Moreover, the Court has stated that such easements by implication /necessity are appurtenant to the dominant tenement and run with the land. *Pitts v. Foster*, 743 So.2d 1066, 1068 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) (citing *Broadhead v. Terpening*, 611 So.2d 949, 953 (Miss. 1992)).

By severance of the common Hornsby and Singleton tract, an easement by implication was created over what is now the Davis and Nationwide tract to serve the landlocked Madison (Bossetta) tract. The created, implied easement, also conveyed by grant in the Madison Deed, is appurtenant to the dominant tenement. The easement requires no subsequent written conveyance because it is a

vested right for successive holders of the dominant tenement and remains binding on successive holders of the servient tenement, though it has been specifically referred to in numerous conveyances. *Pitts*, 743 So.2d at 1069; (Exh. 2, 5, 6, 7, 8). Accordingly, though it failed to mention the road and utility easement, the partial cancellation executed by First Bank in 1985, releasing the 1.11-acre Madison (Bossetta) tract also released the easement appurtenant to the Madison tract.

The chancery court correctly found that Bossetta was entitled to an easement by implication. The original 138.2-acre tract was severed in such a way that a landlocked parcel was created, requiring an easement for access and anything else necessary for the beneficial use of the property.

Issue 2. The chancery court did not err in finding Bossetta entitled to an easement by grant.

The Warranty Deed executed October 10, 1985, from Hornsby and Singleton to Madison conveyed 1.11 acre, which is presently the tract owned by Bossetta. The Deed contained language that the tract was to be served by the easement described below:

B. A road and utility easement beginning at the intersection of Old Highway 51 and the Entrance Road to Chatawa Bluffs South, said point being South 988 feet and East 1553 feet from the Northwest corner of Section 13, T1N, R7E, Pike County, Mississippi; thence Southwesterly with the Entrance Road approximately 2175 feet to the intersection with a road running Southerly; thence turning Southerly with the Entrance Road go approximately 1485 feet to the North line of the Tiger Enterprises, Inc. property, also known as the Chatawa Bluffs South, also being the beginning point of a road know as Stone Ridge Road; thence with Stone Ridge Road go Southerly approximately 2200 feet to the intersection with Delta road; thence continuing Southeasterly and Southerly with Stone Ridge Road go approximately 2700 feet to the end of this easement near the North line of the above described 1.11 acre tract.

(Exh. 2). Also, the Quitclaim Deed executed by Madison to Deposit Guaranty National Bank on October 31, 1988, included language that states the 1.11-acre tract was to be served by the easement described *supra*. (Exh. 5). On September 29, 1989, Deposit Guaranty National Bank executed a Special Warranty Deed to Charles J. Hughes and Sharon F. Hughes ("Hughes") in which it was stated that the 1.11-acre tract was to be served by the subject easement. (Exh. 6).

By Warranty Deed executed November 30, 2002, Hughes conveyed to St. Mary's Farms of Louisiana, LLC, of which Bossetta is an officer, the 1.11 acre as part of a larger tract. Again, the

instrument stated that the tract was served by the easement over the Davis and Nationwide land. (Exh. 7). St. Mary's Farms of Louisiana, LLC, conveyed to Bossetta by Warranty Deed the tract conveyed by Hughes to St. Mary's Farms in 2002. (Exh. 8). The last paragraph of the deed states that it is "made with any and all recorded or unrecorded road and utility easements, rights of way, servitudes of any type, nature and kind, rights of ingress and egress, and any other claims, causes of action, suits or demands relating to the property described on the attached exhibits." The attached Exhibit "A" to the deed also contains a description of the subject easement.

In addition, numerous instruments in Davis and Nationwide's chain of title contain language which demonstrates that the Davis and Nationwide tract is burdened by Bossetta's easement. Page 592 of the Substituted Trustee's Deed executed September 18, 1987, by Keith Starrett states that "This Deed is *subject to* the following . . . 3. Any existing right of way for utility and/or road purposes now existing across said lands." (Exh. 11, Emphasis added). The Substituted Trustee's Notice of Sale within the Substituted Trustee's Deed, states "The Deed of Trust was *subject to* the following . . . 3. Any existing right of way for utility and/or road purposes now existing across said lands." *Id*.

In the Special Warranty Deed executed March 29, 1993, from First Bank to Michael Corbin and Linda S. Corbin ("Corbin") the following language appears at the end of the legal description: "SUBJECT TO ALL EXISTING EASEMENTS AND RIGHTS OF WAY." (Exh. 12, Emphasis added). The Warranty Deed executed March 2, 1998, from Michael Corbin and Linda S. Corbin to John W. Davis and Sandra K. Davis contains the following: Subject to . . . any existing rights of way [and] Subject to all existing easements and rights-of-way. (Exh. 13, Emphasis added).

In the case of *Texaco*, *Inc.*, v. *Junior Pigott*, et al., 235 F. Supp. 458 (S.D. Miss. 1964), the Court considered the language "subject to" in a conveyance, and concluded:

the words "subject to" mean "subservient to" or "limited by"... "Subject to" as used in the referring to an earlier conveyance or lease means that title passed in the subsequent instrument was "subject to" the earlier lease. These words are words of qualification showing the grantor's intent not to grant an absolute title.

Texaco, 235 F.Supp. 458, 462.

In the case of Stockstill v. Gammill, 943 So.2d 35 (Miss. 2006), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated:

A purchaser of land is charged with notice not only of every statement of fact made in the various conveyances constituting his chain of title, but he is also bound to take notice of and to fully explore and investigate all facts to which his attention may be directed by recitals in said conveyance contained. A duty is also imposed on him to examine all deeds and conveyances previously executed and placed of record by his grantor - either immediately or remote-if such deeds or conveyances in any way affect his title. And if in any such deed or conveyance there is contained any recital sufficient to put a reasonably prudent man on inquiry as to the sufficiency of the title, then he is charged with notice of all of those facts which could and would be disclosed by a diligent and careful investigation.

Stockstill v. Gammill, 943 So.2d 35, 43 (Miss. 2006) (quoting Dead River Fishing and Hunting Club v. Stovall, et al. 147 Miss. 385, 113 So. 336, 338); See Florida Gas Exploration Company, et al., v. J. C. Searcy, et al. 385 So.2d 1293 (Miss. 1980).

Citing the Dead River Fishing and Hunting Club v. Stovall, et al. case with approval in the case of Keppner, et al. v. Gulf Shores, Inc., et al., 462 So.2d 719 (1985), the Mississippi Supreme Court concluded that reference to an easement agreement in one's chain of title, coupled with language in the recorded easement was sufficient to put a reasonably prudent man on notice to inquire of an arrangement between his predecessors in title relative to the easement.

The chancellor did not err in finding that Bossetta is entitled to an easement by grant. Both the Bossetta and the Davis and Nationwide chains of title contain references and the specific description of the easement in question. Clearly, Davis and Nationwide had actual and constructive notice that their land is burdened by the easement which serves the landlocked 1.11-acre tract.

Issue 3. Following the holding of Cox v. Trustmark National Bank, 733 So.2d 353 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999), the chancery court did not err in finding that the easement over the Davis and Nationwide tract was released from the Stickney/First Bank deed of trust, thereby subordinating the deed of trust to the implied easement.

Davis and Nationwide are correct in concluding that Cox v. Trustmark National Bank, 733 So.2d 353 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) will be applied to Bossetta's argument. The Cox case precisely addresses one of the issues central to this appeal. The Court's reasoning and resolution in Cox should also be applied to case sub judice.

In Cox, John Cox conveyed a parcel of real estate to Patricia Jones. Cox, 733 So.2d at 355. Cox accepted Jones' deed of trust to secure payment of the purchase price of the land. Id. Jones then deeded an interior, landlocked portion of the land to Whitney Company, Inc. Id. Cox released Whitney Company's tract from his deed of trust. Id. Whitney Company then executed a deed of trust in favor of Trustmark National Bank. Id.

Trustmark foreclosed on the Whitney property, then sued Cox and Jones contending that easement to Cox's deed of trust should be declared to exist across the exterior portion of the land retained by Jones. *Id.* Cox then foreclosed his deed of trust, thereby extinguishing Jones' interest in the property.

The lower court held that an easement by necessity was created when Jones conveyed the landlocked Whitney parcel while retaining the exterior accessible portion of the land. *Id*. From that Judgment, Cox appealed. *Id*.

On appeal, the Court held that Cox's release of the interior of the Whitney/Trustmark tract from his deed of trust also released the easement by implication that existed with regard to such land. Cox, 733 So.2d at 358. In so holding, the Court noted that, "the only means for the owner of the entirety to prevent the creation of an easement by necessity when a landlocked tract is created is by specific language in the conveyance or by other evidence to show the intent that no easement be created." Cox, 733 So.2d at 358, (citing Pencader Associates, Inc., v. Glasgow Trust, 446 A2d 1097, 110 (Del. 1982)). In holding that the implied easement to the interior tract was also released when Cox released the interior tract from his deed of trust, the Court found that "for the release of the [interior] tract not also to have released the necessary appurtenant easement, the release would specifically have had to retain the lien on the easement across the non-released tract." Cox, 733 So.2d at 358. Finally, the Court held, "Cox had no rights in the easement even after foreclosing..." Id.

Under Mississippi law as established and interpreted by Cox, First Bank, by releasing the Madison (now Bossetta) tract from the Stickney deed of trust, also released the easement appurtenant thereto. First Bank and its grantees, Davis and Nationwide, like the Defendant in Cox, obtained no interest in the subject road and utility easement by virtue of First Bank's foreclosure of the Davis and

Nationwide tract.

As stated in the discussion of Issue 1 *supra*, easements by implication are appurtenant to the dominant tenement and run with the land. First Bank and its successors in title, the Corbins, as well as Davis and Nationwide, obtained no interest in the subject road and utility easements through First Bank's foreclosure of the servient Davis and Nationwide tenement. No written conveyance, reservation or exception was required to be included in the release executed by First Bank as the easement in question was a vested right for successive holders of the dominant tenement, such as Bossetta, and remain binding on the successive holders of the servient tenement, such as Davis and Nationwide.

Davis and Nationwide urge this Court overrule Cox and provide a discussion of other jurisdictions' law in support thereof. It is noted that the Court has held it is not bound by the decisions of courts of other jurisdictions on similar questions. Paz v. Brush Engineered Materials, Inc., 949 So.2d 1, 7 (Miss. 2007) (citing Griffith v. Gulf Ref. Co., 215 Miss. 15, 36-37, 61 So.2d 306, 307 (1952)).

Issue 4. The chancery court did not err in citing Davis and Nationwide for contempt.

The Court has held that, "Contempt matters are committed to the substantial discretion of the trial court which, by institutional circumstance and both temporal and visual proximity, is infinitely more competent to decide the matter than we are." Ellis v. Ellis, 840 So.2d 806, 811 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (quoting Varner v. Varner, 666 So.2d 493, 496 (Miss. 1995)). "This Court will not reverse a contempt citation where the chancellor's findings are supported by credible evidence." Ellis, 840 So.2d at 811, (quoting Goodson v. Goodson, 816 So.2d 420, 422 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). The Court has further stated that a citation for contempt is determined upon the facts of each case and is a matter for the trier of fact. Weston v. Mounts, 789 So.2d 822, 826 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) (citing Milam v. Milam, 509 So.2d 864, 866 (Miss. 1987).

The chancellor had the opportunity to view the photographs and hear abundant testimony regarding construction of the berms and the subsequent feeble attempt by Davis to restore the

roadway to its previous condition.

that ruts existed across the road that were approximately two and a half feet tall (T. 71). He stated that before his restoration work the road was impassable due to the berms and loose soil. (T. 72). Vielee testified a bulldozer and gravel trucks were necessary to perform the road restoration work and a tractor and box blade would not have been able to accomplish the work. (T. 77). Bossetta testified that after Davis attempted to restore the roadway it was still impassable to vehicular traffic.

Regarding the condition of the road after Davis' attempt to restore it. Daniel Vielee testified

property impassable by constructing the berms or wind rows with a bulldozer, and thereafter, attempting to use his own tractor and box blade to correct his intentional wrong doing.

(T. 239). Quite simply, Davis knew he was making Bossetta's means of ingress and egress to his

The chancellor heard the testimony from all parties, viewed numerous photographs of the area in question, and concluded that Davis and Nationwide were in contempt of the court's prior order. The chancellor did not abuse her discretion and her findings are supported by credible evidence in the record. As such, the chancellor did not err in concluding that Davis and Nationwide were in contempt.

Issue 5. The chancery court did not err in finding Bossetta entitled to a utility easement.

As has been stated *supra*, an easement by necessity will last as long as the necessity exists and will terminate after other access to the landlocked parcel becomes available. *Fike v. Shelton*, 860 So.2d 1227, 1231 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (citing *Pitts v. Foster*, 743 So.2d 1066, 1068-1069 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999)). The Court has also stated, "An implied easement may be highly convenient or essential to the full enjoyment of the land." *Tubb v. Monroe County Electric Power Association*, 912 So.2d 192, 197 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (citing *Fourth Davis Island Land Co. v. Parker*, 469 So.2d 516, 523 (Miss. 1985)). An easement by necessity applies the principle that whenever a person conveys property, he conveys whatever is necessary for the beneficial use of that property, and retains whatever is necessary for the beneficial use of the land he possesses. *Pitts v. Foster*, 743 So.2d 1066, 1068 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999).

As Davis and Nationwide have noted, no utilities were ever installed as a result of the original easement by implication and grant. However, the easement continued to be referenced in both the Bossetta and the Davis and Nationwide chains of title. Further, the Hughes filed suit in order to enforce their right to run utilities to their property⁵.

Davis and Nationwide had actual and constructive notice that the easement, both for access and utilities, had not been abandoned. In the case *sub judice*, the conveyance of the original easement conveyed whatever is necessary for the beneficial use of the property, access and utilities.

The chancellor correctly found that the utility easement had not been abandoned. In doing so she did not abuse her discretion, and her findings are supported by credible and substantial evidence in the record.

Issue on Cross Appeal

Bossetta is entitled to an award of his attorney fees as proven in the trial court.

The Court has held in the majority of cases that attorney fees are usually only awarded in cases in which the award of punitive damages is proper. See Greenlee v. Mitchell, 607 So.2d 97 (Miss. 1992). In Aqua-Culture Technologies, Ltd., v. Holly, 677 So.2d 171 (Miss. 1996), the Court found that the question of whether punitive damages should be awarded depends largely upon the particular circumstances of the case. Aqua Culture Technologies, 677 So.2d at 184. The Court goes on to say:

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